
Annual  Report    2017 - 18

Ability fi rst for 30 years





Contents

Welcome from the Chairman     04

Welcome from the Chief Executive Officer  05

Financial Report       06

Our Board Members      40

Our Executive Members     42

Our Locations       43



4

Iain Massey
Chairman

Welcome from the Chairman

It’s my pleasure to introduce our second annual 
Quality of Care report, as well as a more 
conventional report covering our financials.
The Quality of Care report is an initiative of our new CEO, Mark Sullivan, 
and it very appropriately focusses on our people, our work and our results.  
This year’s report shows an organisation working very professionally to 
realise our vision: “No Ability Wasted”.

As a Board, our aim for Forrest Personnel is twofold: to keep improving 
the services we offer to our client community; and to create a vibrant, 
innovative and highly skilled organisation able to extend those services 
even further in years to come. 

We must be much more than an outsourced service delivery vehicle 
for government, important as that role is.  We must become a social 
enterprise that leads with new thinking and new initiatives, that steps up 
as an equal partner with the government funding agencies, and that  
offers our client community advocacy and support as well as  
funder-defined services.

At the same time, we must be good stewards of the financial strength we 
inherited from past Boards.  We must ensure that Forrest Personnel has 
the resilience to ride out the shocks, undertake new projects, and keep 
serving our mission.  In this context, “not-for-profit” is a misnomer.  If we 
don’t consistently generate an operating surplus (profit), we cannot meet 
the profound changes coming to our sector, and our fate will be to slide 
into irrelevance.

Our annual reports show us that the signs are generally good, but there’s 
much work still to do.  Apart from continuing to strengthen our financial 
governance, we’ll need to address the tendency of government to assume 
that front-line service delivery is all that needs to be paid for.

You will read elsewhere in this report that a long-term and consistent 
under-provisioning of the DES program in Western Australia has harmed 
our financial performance.  Much more importantly, it has disadvantaged 
our client community compared to the rest of the country.

As I write, we are in dialogue with government about properly 
understanding and correcting this failure not of policy, but of 
implementation.  We have also reduced the impact of the problem by 
directly advertising our services on TV.  Our own financial viability has 
been greatly helped by diligent cost management on the part of our 
executive team.

Thanks to these efforts, in the face of strong headwinds, I’m pleased to 
highlight the following financial results:

Revenue increased by 21% to $7.9M.

Our operating result before abnormals was a surplus of $116K  
(last year’s was $75K).

From our financial reserves, we invested over $600K in capital 
acquisitions. These included: purchase of a building in Rockingham; 
complete replacement of our computer fleet; and staff safety initiatives 
such as duress alarms in every site.
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In the 2017-18 year we have consolidated some 
successes, but also lost some of our core 
business.  We expect disruption and uncertainty 
to continue, and we’re ready for it.

The Board Directors have not changed since 
last year’s report, and this has given us all an 
opportunity to examine in depth the ingredients 
of success, and failure, in delivering our mission.  
The Board continues to clarify our big-picture 
objectives, and to provide a sounding-board for 
CEO Anna and her team.  I thank my colleagues 
for their hard work, outside-the-box thinking, and 
always constructive approach to our discussions.

We have known for some time that to remain a 
viable, regional resource for our client community 
we would have to diversify our work beyond 
DES, which in recent years has dominated both 
our income and our thinking.  The partnerships 
and collaborations you will read about in this 
report, the closer engagement with employers 
and communities, and initiatives like our very 
successful Workability Day all represent, in 
addition to their importance in their own right, 
the application of our top-level imperatives to our 
daily work.

Behind the scenes, we have been networking and 
lobbying to seek improvements, from our clients’ 
perspective, to some ill-considered features of 
both the DES and the NDIS.  Both schemes arise 
from excellent policy, and both suffer from design 
and implementation issues.  Our considered view 
is that it’s our responsibility to get on the front 
foot, and take a leadership position as advocates 
for our client communities.  Some of our friends 
think we should put up and shut up, but we don’t 
agree with them.

Let’s face this directly: like everyone else we 
know of, we are going to have further disruption 
and quickening change.  Corporatised for-
profits are cherry-picking in the DES and NDIS 
“marketplace”, as we foresaw a few years ago.  
The administration of such schemes is still 
tilted in favour of the East Coast capitals, and 
away from clients in remote and regional areas.  
The deck is stacked in favour of ever-larger 
organisations.

So we have a choice.  We can slide gradually into 
irrelevance, or we can take the initiative on behalf 
of people living with disability in regional and 
remote communities.  We choose to take action. 
We will need to grow, and to diversify.  We will be 
doing new things.  The modest annual operating 
surplus we aim for will be re-invested in building 
our capability to stay ahead of the game and 
deliver for our clients in new ways.  It will be 
challenging and exciting.

My heartfelt thanks to my fellow directors, to 
Anna and her very capable executive team, and to 
all our staff at Forrest Personnel.

Thank you for your support, and enjoy a safe and 
happy festive season.

Iain Massey
Chairman

Iain Massey - Chairman
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Welcome from the Chief Executive Officer

Welcome to Forrest Personnel’s 2017-18 Annual 
Report.  I’m proud to report that we had a 
successful year, delivering a surplus and being 
awarded new Disability Employment Services 
(DES) contracts in the Northam and Geraldton 
areas.  We were disappointed that we weren’t 
able to retain our contract in Dale, or ESS in the 
Central and West Metro employment service 
area.  As the Chairman mentions in his report 
we expect disruption and uncertainty to continue, 
and we’re ready for it.  

Forrest Personnel is well prepared for the DES 
2018 reforms, and have focused our preparations 
over the past 18 months on:

• Improving participant choice and control; 
and

• Greater competition and contestability 
between providers.

Forrest Personnel supports the adjustment of 
service and outcome fees to acknowledge some 
participants require more support than others to 
get and keep work.  However, we are concerned 
about how this will affect individuals on the 
autism spectrum and with intellectual/learning 
disabilities – who attract significantly less funding 
as a result of the application of the risk adjusted 
funding tool, which is one of the centre pieces of 
the DES 2018 reform.

During the 2018 financial year Forrest Personnel 
spent a lot of time and energy, going “deep” 
into the community that we operate in.  We have 
been working very hard to improve, or establish, 
relationships and partnerships with organisations 
that share our values and commitment to the 
community.

Forrest Personnel has been trying new things and 
are committed to keeping on doing this.  The way 
forward for Forrest Personnel is to find new ways 
to help more people, and in doing so developing 
new services and sources of revenue.  We have 
invested in infrastructure that will enable us to 
offer a variety of flexible servicing arrangements 
in the new DES contract.  Forrest Personnel has 
provided staff training on delivering an excellent 
customer service experience and are constantly 
reviewing how we do things and how we can 
simplify processes and implement applications 
to allow us to streamline the customer service 
experience.

I’d like to thank the fantastic team at Forrest 
Personnel who are fearless advocates for 
diversity and inclusion in the workplace, and 
the benefits for businesses who employ people 
with medical conditions, disabilities and injuries.  
Thank you to our hard-working Board, who have 
provided support and guidance throughout the 
year.  Particular thanks to the community that we 
serve, and our participants – we are grateful to be 
part of your employment journey.  

Anna Bagshaw
Chief Executive Officer

Anna Bagshaw - CEO
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Forrest Personnel Ltd 

ABN 16 407 737 173 

Financial report for the year ended 30 June 2018 
DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

The directors present this report on the company for the financial year ended 30 June 2018. 

Directors 

The names of each person who has been a director during the year and to the date of this report are: 

 Iain Massey (Chairman) 

 Karl Depiazzi (Deputy Chairperson) 

 Jenny Green 

 Marion Behiels 

 Lyn Harding  

 Geoff Klem  

 David Timmel 

Directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless otherwise 
stated. 

Principal Activities 

Forrest Personnel Ltd enriches lives by finding employment for people with a health condition, injury, or 
disability so they can make the most of their abilities to achieve their life goals.  

Short-term and Long-term Objectives 

The company’s short-term objectives are to: 

– Enhance our customer service to attract and retain participants. 

– Be the provider and employer of choice by engaging stakeholders to employ individuals with a 
medical condition or disability. Acknowledging the skills and abilities that people with a medical 
condition or disability bring to a business, as one in five individuals fall into this category.  

The company’s long-term objectives are to: 

– Diversify revenue streams. 

– Be sustainable. 

Strategies 

To achieve its stated objectives, the company has adopted the following strategies: 

– Customer service training to be delivered to all staff.  

– Development of a Marketing Engagement plan. 

– Culture Development plan. 

Key Performance Measures 

The company measures its own performance through the use of both quantitative and qualitative 
benchmarks.  The benchmarks are used by the directors to assess the financial sustainability of the 
company and whether the company’s short-term and long-term objectives are being achieved. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

Information on Directors 

Iain Massey  – Chairperson 

Qualifications – 
– 

Graduate Diploma of Management – UWA 
Graduate Diploma of Computer Science - Curtin 

Experience – 
– 
– 

Member of Australian Institute of Company Directors 
Associate Fellow of Australian Institute of Management 
15+ years’ experience working with medium and large 
companies to improve their processes, governance, risk 
management, strategy and succession planning. 

Karl Depiazzi – Deputy Chairperson 

Qualifications – 
– 

Double Major in Accounting and Public Practice from Edith 
Cowan University 
Certified Practicing Accountant 

Experience – 17+ years in executive management experience in both not for 
profit and large corporate environments 

Jenny Green  – Director  

Qualifications – Bachelor of Applied Science (Psychology) 

 – Graduate Diploma in Psychology (Counselling) 

 – Registered Psychologist  

Experience – Extensive experience working in the areas of vocational 
rehabilitation and return to work injury management in both 
government and private sectors. 

Marion Behiels – Director  

Qualifications – Diploma of Teaching  

 – Bachelor of Education  

 – Qualified Workplace Trainer and Assessor  

Experience – 30+ years’ experience teaching, including a variety of roles such 
as special needs, vocational and careers, and pastoral care. 

David Timmel – Director  

Qualifications  – Graduate of the Advanced Management Program at Harvard 
University  

Experience  – 30+ years’ experience in the Financial Services, Agribusiness, 
Recruitment and Property Management sectors 

Geoff Klem  – Director  

Qualifications  – Fellow of the Planning Institute of Australia  

 – Degrees in Urban and Regional Studies, Town Planning and 
Diploma in Project Management  

Experience  – 20+ years’ experience in local and state government  

Lyn Harding  – Director  

Qualifications – Fellow, Australian Institute of Company Directors 

 – Fellow, Certified Practicing Accountant  

 – Member, The Executive Connection  

 
Experience 

– Bachelor of Business (Accounting), Edith Cowan University  
20+ years’ experience in health care sector  

   
Page 2 of 31

Forrest Personnel Ltd
ABN 16 407 737 173

7



Forrest Personnel Ltd  

ABN 16 407 737 173 

  Page 3 of 31 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

Meetings of Directors 

During the financial year, 11 meetings of directors were held. Attendances by each director were as 
follows:  

 Directors’ Meetings 

 Number eligible to attend Number attended 

Iain Massey  11 10 

Karl Depiazzi  11 10 

Marion Behiels  11 9 

Jenny Green  11 8 

Lyn Harding  11 8 

Geoff Klem 11 9 

David Timmel  11 11 

   

The company is incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001 and is a company limited by guarantee. If 
the company is wound up, the constitution states that each member is required to contribute a maximum of 
$1 each towards meeting any outstanding obligations of the company.  At 30 June 2018, the total amount 
that members of the company are liable to contribute if the company is wound up is $94 (2017: $96). 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

The lead auditor’s independence declaration for the year ended 30 June 2018 has been received and can 
be found on page 4 of the financial report. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 

Director   

                  Iain Massey  (Chair) 

Dated this   day of  2018 
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 

ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 

 Note 2018 2017 

  $ $ 

Revenue 2 8,684,288 8,145,644 

Other income 2 187,290 176,064 

Employee benefits expense  (6,027,782) (5,595,551) 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 7 (361,744) (392,092) 

Motor vehicle expenses  (247,070) (237,956) 

Occupancy expenses   (620,902) (623,655) 

Administration expenses   (613,596) (552,027) 

Other expenses   (238,121) (186,201) 

Current year surplus before income tax  762,363 734,226 

Net current year surplus  762,363 734,226 

Other comprehensive income    

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:    

Gain on revaluation of buildings   - - 

Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss 
when specific conditions are met:  

  

Fair value remeasurement gains/(losses) on available-for-sale 
financial assets 

 - - 

Items that have been reclassified to profit or loss:    
Reclassification of fair value losses on available-for-sale financial 
assets to profit or loss  

- - 

Total other comprehensive income for the year  - - 

Total comprehensive income for the year  762.363 734,226 

    

Net current year surplus attributable to members of the entity  762,363 734,226 

Total comprehensive income attributable to members of the entity  762,363 734,226 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 JUNE 2018 

 Note 2018 2017 

  $ $ 

ASSETS    

CURRENT ASSETS     

Cash on hand 4 2,747,777 1,712,762 

Accounts receivable and other debtors 5 602,972 549,334 

Other current assets 6 135,080 127,661 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS   3,485,829 2,389,757 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS     

Property, plant and equipment 7 4,288,507 4,441,770 

Intangibles 8 - - 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS   4,288,507 4,441,770 

TOTAL ASSETS  7,774,336 6,831,527 

LIABILITIES    

CURRENT LIABILITIES     

Accounts payable and other payables 9 492,455 427,902 

Employee provisions 10 409,488 352,469 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES   901,943 780,371 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES     

Employee provisions  10 147,024 88,150 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES   147,024 88,150 

TOTAL LIABILITIES   1,048,967 868,521 

NET ASSETS  6,725,369 5,963,006 

EQUITY    

Retained surplus  6,297,929 5,535,566 

Reserves  427,440 427,440 

TOTAL EQUITY  6,725,369 5,963,006 

 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 

 
Note 

Retained 
Surplus 

Revaluation 
Surplus Total 

  $ $ $ 

Balance at 1 July 2016  4,801,340 427,440 5,228,780 

     

Comprehensive income     

Surplus for the year attributable to members 
of the entity 

 
734,226 - 734,226 

Other comprehensive income for the year  - - - 

Total comprehensive income attributable 
to members of the entity  

5,535,566 427,440 5,963,006 

Balance at 30 June 2017  5,535,566 427,440 5,963,006 

Balance at 1 July 2017  5,535,566 427,440 5,963,006 

Comprehensive income     

Surplus for the year attributable to members 
of the entity  

762,363 - 762,363 

Other comprehensive income for the year  - - - 

Total comprehensive income attributable 
to members of the entity  

762,363 - 762,363 

Balance at 30 June 2018  6,297,929 427,440 6,725,369 

 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 

 Note 2018 2017 

  $ $ 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

Receipts from funding bodies and customers   8,631,800 8,046,206 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (7,477,699) (7,336,089) 

Interest received  25,420 18,541 

Net cash generated from operating activities 14 1,179,521 728,658 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  1,493,344 49,486 

Payment for property, plant and equipment 7 (1,637,850) (184,144) 

Net cash used in investing activities  (144,506) (134,658) 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held  1,035,015 594,000 

Cash on hand at beginning of the financial year  1,712,762 1,118,762 

Cash on hand at end of the financial year 4 2,747,777 1,712,762 

 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 

The financial statements cover Forrest Personnel Ltd as an individual entity, incorporated and domiciled in 
Australia. Forrest Personnel Ltd is a company limited by guarantee. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue on 25 September 2018 by the directors of the company. 
 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
Basis of Preparation  
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001, the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations of the Australian Accounting Standards Board.  The company is a not-for-
profit entity for financial reporting purposes under Australian Accounting Standards.  Material accounting 
policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are presented below and have been 
consistently applied unless stated otherwise. 

The financial statements, except for the cash flow information, have been prepared on an accruals basis 
and are based on historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected 
non-current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities. The amounts presented in the financial 
statements have been rounded to the nearest dollar. 

Accounting Policies 

a. Revenue 

 Non-reciprocal grant revenue is recognised in profit or loss when the entity obtains control of the 
grant and it is probable that the economic benefits gained from the grant will flow to the entity and 
the amount of the grant can be measured reliably. 

 If conditions are attached to the grant which must be satisfied before the entity is eligible to receive 
the contribution, the recognition of the grant as revenue will be deferred until those conditions are 
satisfied. 

 When grant revenue is received whereby the entity incurs an obligation to deliver economic value 
directly back to the contributor, this is considered a reciprocal transaction and the grant revenue is 
recognised in the state of financial position as a liability until the service has been delivered to the 
contributor; otherwise the grant is recognised as income on receipt. 

 Revenue from Partners in Recovery and NDIS, provided under contractual arrangements is taken 
up on a proportionate basis net of GST, over the period to which the funding relates. 

 Revenue received from Department of Social Services is recognised within the accounts of Forrest 
Personnel Ltd on an accruals basis, at the time when Forrest Personnel Ltd lodged the revenue 
claim with the Department of Social Services following provision of related services. 

 Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest method, which for floating rate financial 
assets is the rate inherent in the instrument. Dividend revenue is recognised when the right to 
receive a dividend has been established. 

 Revenue from the rendering of a service is recognised upon the delivery of the service to the 
customer. 

 All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax. 

b. Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities 

The company measures some of its assets and liabilities at fair value on either a recurring or non-
recurring basis, depending on the requirements of the applicable Accounting Standard.  

 Fair value is the price the company would receive to sell an asset or would have to pay to transfer 
a liability in an orderly (ie unforced) transaction between independent, knowledgeable and willing 
market participants at the measurement date.  

 As fair value is a market-based measure, the closest equivalent observable market pricing 
information is used to determine fair value. Adjustments to market values may be made having 
regard to the characteristics of the specific asset or liability. The fair values of assets and liabilities 
that are not traded in an active market are determined using one or more valuation techniques. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 

These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent possible, the use of observable market data. 

 To the extent possible, market information is extracted from either the principal market for the 
asset or liability (ie the market with the greatest volume and level of activity for the asset or 
liability) or, in the absence of such a market, the most advantageous market available to the entity 
at the end of the reporting period (ie the market that maximises the receipts from the sale of the 
asset or minimises the payments made to transfer the liability, after taking into account transaction 
costs and transport costs). 

 For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement also takes into account a market participant’s 
ability to use the asset in its highest and best use or to sell it to another market participant that 
would use the asset in its highest and best use.  

 The fair value of liabilities and the entity’s own equity instruments (excluding those related to 
share-based payment arrangements) may be valued, where there is no observable market price in 
relation to the transfer of such financial instruments, by reference to observable market information 
where such instruments are held as assets. Where this information is not available, other valuation 
techniques are adopted and, where significant, are detailed in the respective note to the financial 
statements. 

c. Property, Plant and Equipment  

 Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value as indicated, less, 
where applicable, accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.  

 Freehold property 

 Freehold land and buildings are shown at their fair value based on periodic valuations by external 
independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation for buildings.  

 In periods when the freehold land and buildings are not subject to an independent valuation, the 
directors conduct directors’ valuations to ensure the carrying amount for the land and buildings is 
not materially different to the fair value. 

 Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land and buildings are recognised in 
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the revaluation surplus in equity. Revaluation 
decreases that offset previous increases of the same class of assets shall be recognised in other 
comprehensive income under the heading of revaluation surplus. All other decreases are 
recognised in profit or loss. 

 Any accumulated depreciation at the date of the revaluation is eliminated against the gross 
carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. 

 Plant and equipment 

 Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis and are therefore carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. In the event the carrying 
amount of plant and equipment is greater than the estimated recoverable amount, the carrying 
amount is written down immediately to the estimated recoverable amount and impairment losses 
are recognised either in profit or loss or as a revaluation decrease if the impairment losses relate 
to a revalued asset. A formal assessment of recoverable amount is made when impairment 
indicators are present (refer to Note 1(f) for details of impairment). 

 Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, 
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will 
flow to the company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  All other repairs and 
maintenance are recognised as expenses in profit or loss in the financial period in which they are 
incurred.   

 Plant and equipment that have been contributed at no cost or for nominal cost are recognised at 
the fair value of the asset at the date it is acquired.  
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These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent possible, the use of observable market data. 

 To the extent possible, market information is extracted from either the principal market for the 
asset or liability (ie the market with the greatest volume and level of activity for the asset or 
liability) or, in the absence of such a market, the most advantageous market available to the entity 
at the end of the reporting period (ie the market that maximises the receipts from the sale of the 
asset or minimises the payments made to transfer the liability, after taking into account transaction 
costs and transport costs). 

 For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement also takes into account a market participant’s 
ability to use the asset in its highest and best use or to sell it to another market participant that 
would use the asset in its highest and best use.  

 The fair value of liabilities and the entity’s own equity instruments (excluding those related to 
share-based payment arrangements) may be valued, where there is no observable market price in 
relation to the transfer of such financial instruments, by reference to observable market information 
where such instruments are held as assets. Where this information is not available, other valuation 
techniques are adopted and, where significant, are detailed in the respective note to the financial 
statements. 

c. Property, Plant and Equipment  

 Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value as indicated, less, 
where applicable, accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.  

 Freehold property 

 Freehold land and buildings are shown at their fair value based on periodic valuations by external 
independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation for buildings.  

 In periods when the freehold land and buildings are not subject to an independent valuation, the 
directors conduct directors’ valuations to ensure the carrying amount for the land and buildings is 
not materially different to the fair value. 

 Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land and buildings are recognised in 
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the revaluation surplus in equity. Revaluation 
decreases that offset previous increases of the same class of assets shall be recognised in other 
comprehensive income under the heading of revaluation surplus. All other decreases are 
recognised in profit or loss. 

 Any accumulated depreciation at the date of the revaluation is eliminated against the gross 
carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. 

 Plant and equipment 

 Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis and are therefore carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. In the event the carrying 
amount of plant and equipment is greater than the estimated recoverable amount, the carrying 
amount is written down immediately to the estimated recoverable amount and impairment losses 
are recognised either in profit or loss or as a revaluation decrease if the impairment losses relate 
to a revalued asset. A formal assessment of recoverable amount is made when impairment 
indicators are present (refer to Note 1(f) for details of impairment). 

 Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, 
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will 
flow to the company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  All other repairs and 
maintenance are recognised as expenses in profit or loss in the financial period in which they are 
incurred.   

 Plant and equipment that have been contributed at no cost or for nominal cost are recognised at 
the fair value of the asset at the date it is acquired.  
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 Depreciation 

 The depreciable amount of all fixed assets, including buildings and capitalised lease assets, but 
excluding freehold land, is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the asset’s useful life to the 
entity commencing from the time the asset is available for use. Leasehold improvements are 
depreciated over the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful 
lives of the improvements. 

 The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are:  

 Class of Fixed Asset Depreciation Rate 

 Buildings 2.5% 

 Plant and equipment 20 – 40% 

 The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end 
of each reporting period.  

 Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. 
These gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. When 
revalued assets are sold, amounts included in the revaluation surplus relating to that asset are 
transferred to retained surplus. 

d. Leases 

 Leases of property, plant and equipment, where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to 
the ownership of the asset (but not the legal ownership) are transferred to the entity, are classified 
as finance leases. 

 Finance leases are capitalised, recognising an asset and a liability equal to the present value of 
the minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed residual values. 

 Leased assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives where it is 
likely that the entity will obtain ownership of the asset. Lease payments are allocated between the 
reduction of the lease liability and the lease interest expense for the period. 

 Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the 
lessor, are recognised as expenses on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

e. Financial Instruments 

 Initial recognition and measurement 

 Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions to the instrument. For financial assets, this is equivalent to the date that the 
company commits itself to either purchase or sell the asset (ie trade date accounting is adopted). 

 Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs except where the 
instrument is classified “at fair value through profit or loss”, in which case transaction costs are 
recognised as expenses in profit or loss immediately. 

 Classification and subsequent measurement 

 Financial instruments are subsequently measured at fair value, amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, or cost. Where available, quoted prices in an active market are used to determine 
fair value. In other circumstances, valuation techniques are adopted. 

 Amortised cost is calculated as the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is 
measured at initial recognition less principal repayments and any reduction for impairment, and 
adjusted for any cumulative amortisation of the difference between that initial amount and the 
maturity amount calculated using the effective interest method. 
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 The effective interest method is used to allocate interest income or interest expense over the 
relevant period and is equivalent to the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
or receipts (including fees, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the 
expected life (or when this cannot be reliably predicted, the contractual term) of the financial 
instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. Revisions to 
expected future net cash flows will necessitate an adjustment to the carrying amount with a 
consequential recognition of an income or expense item in profit or loss. 

 (i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

  Financial assets are classified at “fair value through profit or loss” when they are held for 
trading for the purpose of short-term profit taking, derivatives not held for hedging 
purposes, or when they are designated as such to avoid an accounting mismatch or to 
enable performance evaluation where a group of financial assets is managed by key 
management personnel on a fair value basis in accordance with a documented risk 
management or investment strategy. Such assets are subsequently measured at fair value 
with changes in carrying amount being included in profit or loss. 

 (ii) Loans and receivables 

  Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active market and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost. Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss through the amortisation 
process and when the financial asset is derecognised. 

 (iii) Held-to-maturity investments 

  Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed maturities 
and fixed or determinable payments, and it is the company’s intention to hold these 
investments to maturity. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Gains or 
losses are recognised in profit or loss through the amortisation process and when the 
financial asset is derecognised. 

 (iv) Available-for-sale investments 

  Available-for-sale investments are non-derivative financial assets that are either not 
capable of being classified into other categories of financial assets due to their nature or 
they are designated as such by management. They comprise investments in the equity of 
other entities where there is neither a fixed maturity nor fixed or determinable payments. 

  They are subsequently measured at fair value with any remeasurements other than 
impairment losses and foreign exchange gains and losses recognised in other 
comprehensive income. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or 
loss pertaining to that asset previously recognised in other comprehensive income is 
reclassified into profit or loss. 

  Available-for-sale financial assets are classified as non-current assets when they are not 
expected to be sold within 12 months after the end of the reporting period. All other 
available-for-sale financial assets are classified as current assets. 

 (v) Financial liabilities 

  Non-derivative financial liabilities other than financial guarantees are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost. Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss through the 
amortisation process and when the financial liability is derecognised. 
 

 Impairment 

 At the end of each reporting period, the company assesses whether there is objective evidence 
that a financial asset has been impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed 
to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of the 
occurrence of one or more events (a “loss event”), which has an impact on the estimated future 
cash flows of the financial asset(s). 
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 The effective interest method is used to allocate interest income or interest expense over the 
relevant period and is equivalent to the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
or receipts (including fees, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the 
expected life (or when this cannot be reliably predicted, the contractual term) of the financial 
instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. Revisions to 
expected future net cash flows will necessitate an adjustment to the carrying amount with a 
consequential recognition of an income or expense item in profit or loss. 

 (i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

  Financial assets are classified at “fair value through profit or loss” when they are held for 
trading for the purpose of short-term profit taking, derivatives not held for hedging 
purposes, or when they are designated as such to avoid an accounting mismatch or to 
enable performance evaluation where a group of financial assets is managed by key 
management personnel on a fair value basis in accordance with a documented risk 
management or investment strategy. Such assets are subsequently measured at fair value 
with changes in carrying amount being included in profit or loss. 

 (ii) Loans and receivables 

  Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active market and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost. Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss through the amortisation 
process and when the financial asset is derecognised. 

 (iii) Held-to-maturity investments 

  Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed maturities 
and fixed or determinable payments, and it is the company’s intention to hold these 
investments to maturity. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Gains or 
losses are recognised in profit or loss through the amortisation process and when the 
financial asset is derecognised. 

 (iv) Available-for-sale investments 

  Available-for-sale investments are non-derivative financial assets that are either not 
capable of being classified into other categories of financial assets due to their nature or 
they are designated as such by management. They comprise investments in the equity of 
other entities where there is neither a fixed maturity nor fixed or determinable payments. 

  They are subsequently measured at fair value with any remeasurements other than 
impairment losses and foreign exchange gains and losses recognised in other 
comprehensive income. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or 
loss pertaining to that asset previously recognised in other comprehensive income is 
reclassified into profit or loss. 

  Available-for-sale financial assets are classified as non-current assets when they are not 
expected to be sold within 12 months after the end of the reporting period. All other 
available-for-sale financial assets are classified as current assets. 

 (v) Financial liabilities 

  Non-derivative financial liabilities other than financial guarantees are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost. Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss through the 
amortisation process and when the financial liability is derecognised. 
 

 Impairment 

 At the end of each reporting period, the company assesses whether there is objective evidence 
that a financial asset has been impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed 
to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of the 
occurrence of one or more events (a “loss event”), which has an impact on the estimated future 
cash flows of the financial asset(s). 
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 In the case of available-for-sale financial assets, a significant or prolonged decline in the market 
value of the instrument is considered a loss event. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or 
loss immediately. Also, any cumulative decline in fair value previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income is reclassified into profit or loss at this point. 

 In the case of financial assets carried at amortised cost, loss events may include: indications that 
the debtors, or a group of debtors, are experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or 
delinquency in interest or principal payments; indications that they will enter into bankruptcy or 
other financial reorganisation; and changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with 
defaults. 

 For financial assets carried at amortised cost (including loans and receivables), a separate 
allowance account is used to reduce the carrying amount of financial assets impaired by credit 
losses. After having taken all possible measures of recovery, if management establishes that the 
carrying amount cannot be recovered by any means, at that point the written-off amounts are 
charged to the allowance account or the carrying amount of impaired financial assets is reduced 
directly if no impairment amount was previously recognised in the allowance account. 

 When the terms of financial assets that would otherwise have been past due or impaired have 
been renegotiated, the company recognises the impairment for such financial assets by taking into 
account the original terms as if the terms have not been renegotiated so that the loss events that 
have occurred are duly considered. 

 Derecognition 

 Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual rights to receipt of cash flows expire or 
the asset is transferred to another party whereby the entity no longer has any significant 
continuing involvement in the risks and benefits associated with the asset. Financial liabilities are 
derecognised where the related obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The 
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability, which is extinguished or 
transferred to another party, and the fair value of consideration paid, including the transfer of non-
cash assets or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss. 

f. Impairment of Assets 

 At the end of each reporting period, the entity reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and 
intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have been 
impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the 
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use, is compared to the asset’s carrying 
amount. Any excess of the asset’s carrying amount over its recoverable amount is recognised in 
profit or loss.  

 Where the future economic benefits of the asset are not primarily dependent upon the asset’s 
ability to generate net cash inflows and when the entity would, if deprived of the asset, replace its 
remaining future economic benefits, value in use is determined as the depreciated replacement 
cost of an asset.  

 Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an asset, the entity estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

 Where an impairment loss on a revalued asset is identified, this is recognised against the 
revaluation surplus in respect of the same class of asset to the extent that the impairment loss 
does not exceed the amount in the revaluation surplus for that class of asset. 
 

g. Employee Provisions 

 Short-term employee provisions 

 Provision is made for the company’s obligation for short-term employee benefits. Short-term 
employee benefits are benefits (other than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled 
wholly before 12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees 
render the related service, including wages, salaries and sick leave. Short-term employee benefits 
are measured at the (undiscounted) amounts expected to be paid when the obligation is settled. 
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 Other long-term employee provisions 

 Provision is made for employees’ long service leave and annual leave entitlements not expected 
to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the 
employees render the related service. Other long-term employee benefits are measured at the 
present value of the expected future payments to be made to employees. Expected future 
payments incorporate anticipated future wage and salary levels, durations of service and 
employee departures, and are discounted at rates determined by reference to market yields at the 
end of the reporting period on government bonds that have maturity dates that approximate the 
terms of the obligations. Upon the remeasurement of obligations for other long-term employee 
benefits, the net change in the obligation is recognised in profit or loss as part of employee 
benefits expense.  

 The company’s obligations for long-term employee benefits are presented as non-current 
employee provisions in its statement of financial position, except where the company does not 
have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period, in which case the obligations are presented as current provisions.  

h. Cash on Hand 

 Cash on hand includes cash on hand, deposits held at-call with banks, other short-term highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. 

i. Accounts Receivable and Other Debtors 

 Accounts receivable and other debtors include amounts due from customers.  Receivables 
expected to be collected within 12 months of the end of the reporting period are classified as 
current assets.  All other receivables are classified as non-current assets. 

 Accounts receivable are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, less any provision for impairment. Refer to Note 1(f) for 
further discussion on the determination of impairment losses. 

j. Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

 Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the 
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). 

 Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The 
net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included with other receivables or 
payables in the statement of financial position. 

 Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from 
investing or financing activities, which are recoverable from or payable to the ATO, are presented 
as operating cash flows included in receipts from customers or payments to suppliers. 

k. Income Tax 

 No provision for income tax has been raised as the entity is exempt from income tax under Div 50 
of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997. 

l. Intangibles 

 Software 

 Software is recorded at cost. It has a finite life and is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and any impairment losses. Software has an estimated useful life of between one and three years. 
It is assessed annually for impairment. 

m. Provisions 

 Provisions are recognised when the entity has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past 
events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can 
be reliably measured. Provisions recognised represent the best estimate of the amounts required 
to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period. 
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 Other long-term employee provisions 

 Provision is made for employees’ long service leave and annual leave entitlements not expected 
to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the 
employees render the related service. Other long-term employee benefits are measured at the 
present value of the expected future payments to be made to employees. Expected future 
payments incorporate anticipated future wage and salary levels, durations of service and 
employee departures, and are discounted at rates determined by reference to market yields at the 
end of the reporting period on government bonds that have maturity dates that approximate the 
terms of the obligations. Upon the remeasurement of obligations for other long-term employee 
benefits, the net change in the obligation is recognised in profit or loss as part of employee 
benefits expense.  

 The company’s obligations for long-term employee benefits are presented as non-current 
employee provisions in its statement of financial position, except where the company does not 
have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period, in which case the obligations are presented as current provisions.  

h. Cash on Hand 

 Cash on hand includes cash on hand, deposits held at-call with banks, other short-term highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. 

i. Accounts Receivable and Other Debtors 

 Accounts receivable and other debtors include amounts due from customers.  Receivables 
expected to be collected within 12 months of the end of the reporting period are classified as 
current assets.  All other receivables are classified as non-current assets. 

 Accounts receivable are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, less any provision for impairment. Refer to Note 1(f) for 
further discussion on the determination of impairment losses. 

j. Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

 Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the 
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). 

 Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The 
net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included with other receivables or 
payables in the statement of financial position. 

 Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from 
investing or financing activities, which are recoverable from or payable to the ATO, are presented 
as operating cash flows included in receipts from customers or payments to suppliers. 

k. Income Tax 

 No provision for income tax has been raised as the entity is exempt from income tax under Div 50 
of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997. 

l. Intangibles 

 Software 

 Software is recorded at cost. It has a finite life and is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and any impairment losses. Software has an estimated useful life of between one and three years. 
It is assessed annually for impairment. 

m. Provisions 

 Provisions are recognised when the entity has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past 
events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can 
be reliably measured. Provisions recognised represent the best estimate of the amounts required 
to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period. 
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n. Comparative Figures 

 Where required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform 
with changes in presentation for the current financial year. 

o. Accounts Payable and Other Payables 

 Accounts payable and other payables represent the liability outstanding at the end of the reporting 
period for goods and services received by the company during the reporting period which remain 
unpaid. The balance is recognised as a current liability with the amounts normally paid within 30 
days of recognition of the liability. 

p. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements  

 The directors evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into the financial statements based 
on historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable 
expectation of future events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both 
externally and within the company. 

 Key estimates 

 (i) Impairment 

  The freehold land and buildings were independently valued in 2016. The valuation was 
based on fair value. The critical assumptions adopted in determining the valuation included 
the location of the land and buildings in the area and recent sales data for similar properties. 
The valuation resulted in a revaluation increment of $427,440 on buildings being recognised 
for the year ended 30 June 2016 and a loss on land revaluation of $185,000. 

  At 30 June 2018, the directors reviewed the key assumptions made by the valuers at 30 
June 2016. They have concluded that these assumptions remain materially unchanged, and 
are satisfied that carrying amount does not exceed the recoverable amount of land and 
buildings at 30 June 2018. 

 Key judgements 

 (i) Employee benefits 

  For the purpose of measurement, AASB 119: Employee Benefits defines obligations for 
short-term employee benefits as obligations expected to be settled wholly before 12 months 
after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related 
services. The company expects most employees will take their annual leave entitlements 
within 24 months of the reporting period in which they were earned, but this will not have a 
material impact on the amounts recognised in respect of obligations for employees’ leave 
entitlements. 

q. Economic Dependence 

 Forrest Personnel Ltd is dependent on the Department of Social Services for the majority of its 
revenue used to operate the business. At the date of this report, the Board of Directors has no 
reason to believe the Department will not continue to support Forrest Personnel Ltd. Funding with 
the Department of Social Services has been secured until 30 June 2023. 

r. New Accounting Standards for Application in Future Periods 

 The AASB has issued a number of new and amended Accounting Standards that have mandatory 
application dates for future reporting periods, some of which are relevant to the company. The 
company has decided not to early adopt any of the new and amended pronouncements. The 
company’s assessment of the new and amended pronouncements that are relevant to the 
company but applicable in future reporting periods is set out below: 

 – AASB 9: Financial Instruments and associated Amending Standards (applicable for the 
year ending 30 June 2019).  
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  The Standard will be applicable retrospectively (subject to the provisions on hedge 
accounting outlined below) and includes revised requirements for the classification and 
measurement of financial instruments, revised recognition and derecognition requirements 
for financial instruments, and simplified requirements for hedge accounting. 

  The key changes that may affect the company on initial application include certain 
simplifications to the classification of financial assets, simplifications to the accounting of 
embedded derivatives, upfront accounting for expected credit loss, and the irrevocable 
election to recognise gains and losses on investments in equity instruments that are not 
held for trading in other comprehensive income.  AASB 9 also introduces a new model for 
hedge accounting that will allow greater flexibility in the ability to hedge risk, particularly 
with respect to the hedging of non-financial items.  Should the company elect to change its 
hedge policies in line with the new hedge accounting requirements of the Standard, the 
application of such accounting would be largely prospective. 

  This standard is not expected to have a impact on Forrest Personnel Ltd. 

 – AASB 16: Leases (applicable for the year ending 30 June 2020).  

  When effective, this Standard will replace the current accounting requirements 
applicable to leases in AASB 117: Leases and related Interpretations. AASB 16 
introduces a single lessee accounting model that eliminates the requirement for leases 
to be classified as operating or finance leases. 

  The main changes introduced by the new Standard include: 

  - recognition of a right-to-use asset and liability for all leases (excluding short-term 
leases with less than 12 months of tenure and leases relating to low-value 
assets); 

  - depreciation of right-to-use assets in line with AASB 116: Property, Plant and 
Equipment in profit or loss and unwinding of the liability in principal and interest 
components; 

  - variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate are included in the 
initial measurement of the lease liability using the index or rate at the 
commencement date; 

  - by applying a practical expedient, a lessee is permitted to elect not to separate 
non-lease components and instead account for all components as a lease; and 

  - additional disclosure requirements.  

  The transitional provisions of AASB 16 allow a lessee to either retrospectively apply the 
Standard to comparatives in line with AASB 108: Accounting Policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors or recognise the cumulative effect of retrospective 
application as an adjustment to opening equity on the date of initial application. 

  The directors anticipate that the adoption of AASB 16 will impact the company’s 
financial statements, however the impact has not yet been quantified.  

 – AASB 1058: Income of Not-for-Profit Entities (applicable for the year ending 30 June 
2020).  

  This Standard is applicable to transactions that do not arise from enforceable contracts 
with customers involving performance obligations. 

  The significant accounting requirements of AASB 1058 are as follows: 

  - Income arising from an excess of the initial carrying amount of an asset over the 
related contributions by owners, increases in liabilities, decreases in assets and 
revenue should be immediately recognised in profit or loss. For this purpose, the 
assets, liabilities and revenue are to be measured in accordance with other 
applicable Standards. 
  

  - Liabilities should be recognised for the excess of the initial carrying amount of a 
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  The Standard will be applicable retrospectively (subject to the provisions on hedge 
accounting outlined below) and includes revised requirements for the classification and 
measurement of financial instruments, revised recognition and derecognition requirements 
for financial instruments, and simplified requirements for hedge accounting. 

  The key changes that may affect the company on initial application include certain 
simplifications to the classification of financial assets, simplifications to the accounting of 
embedded derivatives, upfront accounting for expected credit loss, and the irrevocable 
election to recognise gains and losses on investments in equity instruments that are not 
held for trading in other comprehensive income.  AASB 9 also introduces a new model for 
hedge accounting that will allow greater flexibility in the ability to hedge risk, particularly 
with respect to the hedging of non-financial items.  Should the company elect to change its 
hedge policies in line with the new hedge accounting requirements of the Standard, the 
application of such accounting would be largely prospective. 

  This standard is not expected to have a impact on Forrest Personnel Ltd. 

 – AASB 16: Leases (applicable for the year ending 30 June 2020).  

  When effective, this Standard will replace the current accounting requirements 
applicable to leases in AASB 117: Leases and related Interpretations. AASB 16 
introduces a single lessee accounting model that eliminates the requirement for leases 
to be classified as operating or finance leases. 

  The main changes introduced by the new Standard include: 

  - recognition of a right-to-use asset and liability for all leases (excluding short-term 
leases with less than 12 months of tenure and leases relating to low-value 
assets); 

  - depreciation of right-to-use assets in line with AASB 116: Property, Plant and 
Equipment in profit or loss and unwinding of the liability in principal and interest 
components; 

  - variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate are included in the 
initial measurement of the lease liability using the index or rate at the 
commencement date; 

  - by applying a practical expedient, a lessee is permitted to elect not to separate 
non-lease components and instead account for all components as a lease; and 

  - additional disclosure requirements.  

  The transitional provisions of AASB 16 allow a lessee to either retrospectively apply the 
Standard to comparatives in line with AASB 108: Accounting Policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors or recognise the cumulative effect of retrospective 
application as an adjustment to opening equity on the date of initial application. 

  The directors anticipate that the adoption of AASB 16 will impact the company’s 
financial statements, however the impact has not yet been quantified.  

 – AASB 1058: Income of Not-for-Profit Entities (applicable for the year ending 30 June 
2020).  

  This Standard is applicable to transactions that do not arise from enforceable contracts 
with customers involving performance obligations. 

  The significant accounting requirements of AASB 1058 are as follows: 

  - Income arising from an excess of the initial carrying amount of an asset over the 
related contributions by owners, increases in liabilities, decreases in assets and 
revenue should be immediately recognised in profit or loss. For this purpose, the 
assets, liabilities and revenue are to be measured in accordance with other 
applicable Standards. 
  

  - Liabilities should be recognised for the excess of the initial carrying amount of a 
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financial asset (received in a transfer to enable the entity to acquire or construct a 
recognisable non-financial asset that is to be controlled by the entity) over any 
related amounts recognised in accordance with the applicable Standards. The 
liabilities must be amortised to profit or loss as income when the entity satisfies its 
obligations under the transfer. 

  An entity may elect to recognise volunteer services or a class of volunteer services as an 
accounting policy choice if the fair value of those services can be measured reliably, 
whether or not the services would have been purchased if they had not been donated. 
Recognised volunteer services should be measured at fair value and any excess over the 
related amounts (such as contributions by owners or revenue) immediately recognised as 
income in profit or loss. 

  The transitional provisions of this Standard permit an entity to either: restate the contracts 
that existed in each prior period presented in accordance with AASB 108 (subject to 
certain practical expedients); or recognise the cumulative effect of retrospective 
application to incomplete contracts on the date of initial application. For this purpose, a 
completed contract is a contract or transaction for which the entity has recognised all of 
the income in accordance with AASB 1004 Contributions. 

  The directors anticipate that the adoption of AASB 1058 may have an impact on the 
company's financial statements, the impact is expected to be immaterial.  
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NOTE 2: REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 
  2018 2017 

  $ $ 

Revenue    

Operating revenue   8,658,868 8,127,103 

  8,658,868 8,127,103 

Other revenue:    

– interest received on investments   25,420 18,541 

   25,420 18,541 

Total revenue  8,684,288 8,145,644 

    

Other income    

– gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  63,975 49,486 

– rental income   120,451 124,566 

– other   2,864 2,012 

Total other income  187,290 176,064 

Total revenue and other income  8,871,581 8,321,708 

  
NOTE 3: AUDITOR REMUNERATION 
  2018 2017 

  $ $ 

 Audit fees:    

 – audit services  18,020 17,750 

 
NOTE 4: CASH ON HAND 
  2018 2017 

  $ $ 

CURRENT    

Cash at bank – unrestricted  2,743,044 1,708,058 

Petty Cash   4,733 4,704 

Total cash on hand as stated in the statement of financial position 
and statement of cash flows 

 2,747,777 1,712,762 
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NOTE 2: REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 
  2018 2017 

  $ $ 

Revenue    

Operating revenue   8,658,868 8,127,103 

  8,658,868 8,127,103 

Other revenue:    

– interest received on investments   25,420 18,541 

   25,420 18,541 

Total revenue  8,684,288 8,145,644 

    

Other income    

– gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  63,975 49,486 

– rental income   120,451 124,566 

– other   2,864 2,012 

Total other income  187,290 176,064 

Total revenue and other income  8,871,581 8,321,708 

  
NOTE 3: AUDITOR REMUNERATION 
  2018 2017 

  $ $ 

 Audit fees:    

 – audit services  18,020 17,750 

 
NOTE 4: CASH ON HAND 
  2018 2017 

  $ $ 

CURRENT    

Cash at bank – unrestricted  2,743,044 1,708,058 

Petty Cash   4,733 4,704 

Total cash on hand as stated in the statement of financial position 
and statement of cash flows 

 2,747,777 1,712,762 
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NOTE 5: ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND OTHER DEBTORS 
 Note 2018 2017 

  $ $ 

CURRENT    

Accounts receivable  602,972 549,334 

Total current accounts receivable and other debtors 15 602,972 594,334 

 

a. Credit Risk 

 The main source of credit risk to the company is considered to relate to the class of assets 
described as “accounts receivable and other debtors”. 

 The following table details the company’s accounts receivable and other debtors exposed to credit 
risk (prior to collateral and other credit enhancements) with ageing analysis and impairment 
provided for thereon.  Amounts are considered as “past due” when the debt has not been settled 
within the terms and conditions agreed between the company and the customer or counterparty to 
the transaction. Receivables that are past due are assessed for impairment by ascertaining 
solvency of the debtors and are provided for where there are specific circumstances indicating that 
the debt may not be fully repaid to the company. 

 The balances of receivables that remain within initial trade terms (as detailed in the table below) are 
considered to be of high credit quality. 

  
Gross 

Amount 

Past Due 
and 

Impaired 

Past Due but Not Impaired 
(Days Overdue) 

Within 
Initial 
Trade 
Terms   < 30 31–60 61–90 > 90 

  $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

 2018        

 Accounts 
receivable 

602,972 - 542,186 26,415 1,363 33,008 602,972 

 Total 602,972 - 542,186 26,415 1,363 33,008 602,972 

         

 2017        

 Accounts 
receivable 

549,334 - 537,755 10,244 572 763 549,334 

 Total 549,334 - 537,755 10,244 572 763 549,334 

 
NOTE 6: OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 
  2018 2017 

  $ $ 

Accrued income  54,341 2,870 

Prepayments   45,229 100,152 

Other current assets   35,510 24,639 

  135,080 127,661 
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NOTE 7: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
  2018 2017 

  $ $ 

Land and Buildings    

Land at fair value  1,055,000 1,055,000 

Total land  1,055,000 1,055,000 

Buildings at fair value  2,383,315 2,383,315 

Accumulated depreciation  (133,109) (71,253) 

Total buildings  2,250,206 2,312,062 

Total land and buildings  3,305,206 3,367,062 

Plant and Equipment     

Plant and equipment:    

At cost   1,569,603 1,570,266 

Accumulated depreciation  (586,302) (495,558) 

Total plant and equipment   983,301 1,074,708 

Total property, plant and equipment  4,288,507 4,441,770 

 

Movements in Carrying Amounts 

Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning 
and the end of the current financial year: 

 Land and 
Buildings  

Plant and 
Equipment  

Total  

 $ $ $ 

2017    

Balance at the beginning of the year 3,428,919 1,204,345 4,633,264 

Additions at cost - 1,007,273 1,007,273 

Disposals - (823,128) (823,128) 

Revaluations - - - 

Depreciation expense  (61,857) (313,782) (375,639) 

Carrying amount at the end of the year 3,367,062 1,074,708 4,441,770 

2018    

Balance at the beginning of the year  3,367,062 1,074,708 4,441,770 

Additions at cost  - 1,637,850 1,637,850 

Disposals/write offs  - (1,429,370) (1,429,370) 

Revaluations - - - 

Depreciation expense (61,857) (299,887) (361,744) 

Carrying amount at the end of the year 3,305,206 983,301 4,288,507 
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NOTE 7: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
Asset Revaluations 

The freehold land and buildings were independently valued at 30 June 2016. The valuation resulted in a 
revaluation increment of $427,440 on buildings being recognised in the revaluation surplus for the year 
ended 30 June 2016. A loss on land revaluations of $185,000 was recorded for 30 June 2016.  

At 30 June 2018 the directors reviewed the key assumptions made by the valuers at 30 June 2016. They 
have concluded that these assumptions remain materially unchanged, and are satisfied that the carrying 
amount does not exceed the recoverable amount of land and buildings at 30 June 2018. 

Refer to Note 16 for detailed disclosures regarding the fair value measurement of the company’s freehold 
land and buildings. 

 
NOTE 8: INTANGIBLES 
  2018 2017 

  $ $ 

Rebranding Costs   16,900 16,900 

Accumulated amortisation  (16,900) (16,900) 

Website development costs   19,976 19,976 

Accumulated amortisation  (19,976) (19,976) 

Net carrying amount  - - 

    

 Rebranding 
costs 

Website 
development 

Total 

   $ 

2017    

Balance at the beginning of the year 5,633 10,820 16,453 

Additions - - - 

Disposals - - - 

Amortisation expense (5,633) (10,820) (16,453) 

Impairment losses - - - 

 - - - 

2018    

Balance at the beginning of the year - - - 

Additions - - - 

Disposals - - - 

Amortisation expense - - - 

Impairment losses - - - 

 - - - 
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NOTE 7: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
  2018 2017 

  $ $ 

Land and Buildings    

Land at fair value  1,055,000 1,055,000 

Total land  1,055,000 1,055,000 

Buildings at fair value  2,383,315 2,383,315 

Accumulated depreciation  (133,109) (71,253) 

Total buildings  2,250,206 2,312,062 

Total land and buildings  3,305,206 3,367,062 

Plant and Equipment     

Plant and equipment:    

At cost   1,569,603 1,570,266 

Accumulated depreciation  (586,302) (495,558) 

Total plant and equipment   983,301 1,074,708 

Total property, plant and equipment  4,288,507 4,441,770 

 

Movements in Carrying Amounts 

Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning 
and the end of the current financial year: 

 Land and 
Buildings  

Plant and 
Equipment  

Total  

 $ $ $ 

2017    

Balance at the beginning of the year 3,428,919 1,204,345 4,633,264 

Additions at cost - 1,007,273 1,007,273 

Disposals - (823,128) (823,128) 

Revaluations - - - 

Depreciation expense  (61,857) (313,782) (375,639) 

Carrying amount at the end of the year 3,367,062 1,074,708 4,441,770 

2018    

Balance at the beginning of the year  3,367,062 1,074,708 4,441,770 

Additions at cost  - 1,637,850 1,637,850 

Disposals/write offs  - (1,429,370) (1,429,370) 

Revaluations - - - 

Depreciation expense (61,857) (299,887) (361,744) 

Carrying amount at the end of the year 3,305,206 983,301 4,288,507 
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NOTE 7: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
Asset Revaluations 

The freehold land and buildings were independently valued at 30 June 2016. The valuation resulted in a 
revaluation increment of $427,440 on buildings being recognised in the revaluation surplus for the year 
ended 30 June 2016. A loss on land revaluations of $185,000 was recorded for 30 June 2016.  

At 30 June 2018 the directors reviewed the key assumptions made by the valuers at 30 June 2016. They 
have concluded that these assumptions remain materially unchanged, and are satisfied that the carrying 
amount does not exceed the recoverable amount of land and buildings at 30 June 2018. 

Refer to Note 16 for detailed disclosures regarding the fair value measurement of the company’s freehold 
land and buildings. 

 
NOTE 8: INTANGIBLES 
  2018 2017 

  $ $ 

Rebranding Costs   16,900 16,900 

Accumulated amortisation  (16,900) (16,900) 

Website development costs   19,976 19,976 

Accumulated amortisation  (19,976) (19,976) 

Net carrying amount  - - 

    

 Rebranding 
costs 

Website 
development 

Total 

   $ 

2017    

Balance at the beginning of the year 5,633 10,820 16,453 

Additions - - - 

Disposals - - - 

Amortisation expense (5,633) (10,820) (16,453) 

Impairment losses - - - 

 - - - 

2018    

Balance at the beginning of the year - - - 

Additions - - - 

Disposals - - - 

Amortisation expense - - - 

Impairment losses - - - 

 - - - 
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NOTE 9: ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 Note 2018 2017 

  $ $ 

CURRENT    

Accounts payable  250,802 211,166 

Other current payables  182,292 159,652 

GST liability  59,361 57,084 

 9a 492,455 427,902 

    

a. Financial liabilities at amortised cost classified as 
accounts payable and other payables  

   

 Accounts payable and other payables:    

 – total current   492,455 427,902 

 – total non-current  - - 

    492,455 427,902 

 Less GST liability  59,361 57,084 

 Financial liabilities as accounts payable and other payables 15 433,094 370,818 

     

 The average credit period on accounts payable and other payables (excluding GST payable) is 1 
month.  No interest is payable on outstanding payables during this period.   

 
NOTE 10: EMPLOYEE PROVISIONS  

 2018 2017 

 $ $ 

Opening balance  440,619 600,335 

Additional provisions raised during the year 685,038 259,945 

Amounts used (488,145) (419,661) 

Closing Balance  637,512 440,619 

   

 2018 2017 

 $ $ 

Analysis of employee provisions   

Current:   

– annual leave and time off in lieu entitlements 287,976 273,930 

– long service leave entitlements 121,512 78,539 

Total current employee provisions  409,488 352,469 

Non-current:   

– long service leave entitlements 147,024 88,150 

 147,024 88,150 
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NOTE 9: ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 Note 2018 2017 
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Opening balance  440,619 600,335 

Additional provisions raised during the year 685,038 259,945 

Amounts used (488,145) (419,661) 

Closing Balance  637,512 440,619 
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 $ $ 
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Current:   

– annual leave and time off in lieu entitlements 287,976 273,930 
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 147,024 88,150 
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NOTE 10: EMPLOYEE PROVISIONS  
Employee provisions  

Employee provisions represent amounts accrued for annual leave and long service leave. 

The current portion for this provision includes the total amount accrued for annual leave entitlements and 
the amounts accrued for long service leave entitlements that have vested due to employees having 
completed the required period of service. Based on past experience, the company does not expect the full 
amount of annual leave or long service leave balances classified as current liabilities to be settled within 
the next 12 months. However, these amounts must be classified as current liabilities since the company 
does not have an unconditional right to defer the settlement of these amounts in the event employees wish 
to use their leave entitlement. 

The non-current portion for this provision includes amounts accrued for long service leave entitlements that 
have not yet vested in relation to those employees who have not yet completed the required period of 
service. 

 
NOTE 11: CAPITAL AND LEASING COMMITMENTS 
  2018 2017 

  $ $ 

a. Finance Lease Commitments    

 Forrest Personnel Ltd had no finance lease commitments for the year ended 30 June 2018 (2017: 
Nil). 

b.  Operating Lease Commitments    

 Non-cancellable operating leases contracted for but not 
capitalised in the financial statements  

   

 Payable – minimum lease payments:    

 – not later than 12 months  214,971 251,825 

 – between 12 months and five years  316,013 21,888 

 – later than five years  5,685 - 

    536,669 273,713 

 The property lease commitments are non-cancellable 
operating leases contracted for but not recognised in the 
financial statements with a five-year term. Increases in lease 
commitments may occur in line with the consumer price index 
(CPI). 

   

 The motor vehicle lease commitments are non-cancellable 
operating leases contracted for with a two or three-year term. 
Increases in lease commitments may occur in line with the 
CPI. The leases are secured by the underlying motor vehicle.  

   

 
NOTE 12: EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 
The directors are not aware of any significant events since the end of the reporting period. 
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NOTE 13: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
   2018 2017 

   $ $ 

a. Key Management Personnel    

 Any person(s) having authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the company, directly 
or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or 
otherwise) is considered key management personnel. 

   

 Key management personnel compensation:    

 – short-term benefits  504,725 431,521 

    504,725 431,521 

b. Remuneration of Directors     

 Sitting fees paid/accrued to the Directors of the Company 
totalled $35,996 for the period from 1 July 2017 to 30 June 
2018 (2017: $28,672).  

   

c. Other Related Parties  2018 2017 

 Other related parties include close family members of key 
management personnel and entities that are controlled or 
jointly controlled by those key management personnel, 
individually or collectively with their close family members. 

   

 Upland Consulting, controlled by a director:    

 – Consulting services   21,869 29,879 

Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial 
terms and conditions no more favourable than those available to 
other persons unless otherwise stated. 

   

 
NOTE 14: CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
  2018 2017 

  $ $ 

Reconciliation of Cash Flows from Operating Activities with Net 
Current Year Surplus 

   

Net current year surplus  762,363 734,226 

Non-cash flows:    

Depreciation expense  361,744 392,092 

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (63,975) (49,486) 

Changes in assets and liabilities:    

Increase in accounts receivable and other debtors  (64,509) (213,650) 

Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable and other payables  64,553 79,164 

Decrease/(increase) in accrued income  (51,471) (1,730) 

Increase/(decrease) in employee provisions  115,894 (159,717) 

Decrease/(increase) in prepayments  54,922 (52,241) 

   1,179,521 728,658 
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NOTE 13: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
   2018 2017 
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terms and conditions no more favourable than those available to 
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NOTE 15: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
The company’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, local money market 
instruments, short-term and long-term investments, receivables and payables, and lease liabilities. 

The carrying amounts for each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance with AASB 139: 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement as detailed in the accounting policies to these 
financial statements, are as follows: 

 Note 2018 2017 

  $ $ 

Financial assets    

Cash on hand 4 2,747,777 1,712,762 

Accounts receivable and other debtors 5 602,972 549,334 

Total financial assets  3,350,749 2,262,096 

    

Financial liabilities    

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:    

– accounts payable and other payables 9a 433,094 370,818 

Total financial liabilities  433,094 370,818 

 

Financial Risk Management Policies 

The finance committee is responsible for monitoring and managing the company’s compliance with its risk 
management strategy and consists of senior board members. The finance committee’s overall risk 
management strategy is to assist the company in meeting its financial targets while minimising potential 
adverse effects on financial performance. Risk management policies are approved and reviewed by the 
finance committee on a regular basis. These include credit risk policies and future cash flow requirements. 

Specific Financial Risk Exposures and Management 

The main risks the company is exposed to through its financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk and 
market risk relating to interest rate risk and other price risk. 

There have been no substantive changes in the types of risks the company is exposed to, how these risks 
arise, or the Board’s objectives, policies and processes for managing or measuring the risks from the 
previous period. 

a. Credit risk 

 Exposure to credit risk relating to financial assets arises from the potential non-performance by 
counterparties of contract obligations that could lead to a financial loss for the company. 

 The company does not have any material credit risk exposures as its major source of revenue is 
the receipt of grants. Credit risk is further mitigated as over 92% of revenue being received from 
Commonwealth in accordance with funding agreements which ensure funding for a further 12 
month period. 

 Credit risk exposures 

 The maximum exposure to credit risk by class of recognised financial assets at the end of the 
reporting period is equivalent to the carrying value and classification of those financial assets (net 
of any provisions) as presented in the statement of financial position. 

 Accounts receivable and other debtors that are neither past due nor impaired are considered to be 
of high credit quality.  Aggregates of such amounts are detailed at Note 5.   

 The company has no significant concentrations of credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or 
group of counterparties. Details with respect to credit risk of accounts receivable and other debtors 
are provided in Note 5. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 

NOTE 15: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 Credit risk related to balances with banks and other financial institutions is managed by the finance 

committee in accordance with approved board policy. Such policy requires that surplus funds are 
only invested with counterparties with a Standard & Poor’s rating of at least AA–.  The following 
table provides information regarding the credit risk relating to cash and money market securities 
based on Standard & Poor’s counterparty credit ratings: 

  Note 2018 2017 

   $ $ 

 Cash on hand    

 – AA rated  2,747,777 1,712,762 

  4 2,747,777 1,712,762 

b. Liquidity risk 

 Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the company might encounter difficulty in settling its 
debts or otherwise meeting its obligations in relation to financial liabilities.  The company manages 
this risk through the following mechanisms: 

 – preparing forward-looking cash flow analyses in relation to its operating, investing and 
financing activities; 

 – maintaining a reputable credit profile; 

 – managing credit risk related to financial assets; 

 – only investing surplus cash with major financial institutions; and 

 – comparing the maturity profile of financial liabilities with the realisation profile of financial 
assets. 

 The table below reflects an undiscounted contractual maturity analysis for non-derivative financial 
liabilities.  The company does not hold any derivative financial liabilities directly. 

 Cash flows realised from financial assets reflect management’s expectation as to the timing of 
realisation. Actual timing may therefore differ from that disclosed. The timing of cash flows 
presented in the table to settle financial liabilities reflects the earliest contractual settlement dates. 

Financial liability and financial asset maturity analysis 

 Within 1 Year 1 to 5 Years Over 5 Years Total 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Financial liabilities due for 
payment 

        

Accounts payable and other 
payables (excluding 
estimated annual leave and 
deferred income)  

433,094 370,818 - - - - 433,094 370,818 

Total expected outflows 433,094 370,818 - - - - 433,094 370,818 

Financial assets – cash 
flows realisable 

        

Cash on hand 2,747,777 1,712,762 - - - - 2,747,777 1,712,762 

Accounts receivable and 
other debtors 

602,792 549,334 - - - - 602,972 549,334 

Total anticipated inflows  3,350,569 2,262,096 - - - - 3,350,569 2,262,096 

Net (outflow)/inflow on 
financial instruments 

2,917,475 1,891,278 - - - - 2,917,475 1,891,278 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 

NOTE 15: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 Credit risk related to balances with banks and other financial institutions is managed by the finance 

committee in accordance with approved board policy. Such policy requires that surplus funds are 
only invested with counterparties with a Standard & Poor’s rating of at least AA–.  The following 
table provides information regarding the credit risk relating to cash and money market securities 
based on Standard & Poor’s counterparty credit ratings: 

  Note 2018 2017 

   $ $ 

 Cash on hand    

 – AA rated  2,747,777 1,712,762 

  4 2,747,777 1,712,762 

b. Liquidity risk 

 Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the company might encounter difficulty in settling its 
debts or otherwise meeting its obligations in relation to financial liabilities.  The company manages 
this risk through the following mechanisms: 

 – preparing forward-looking cash flow analyses in relation to its operating, investing and 
financing activities; 

 – maintaining a reputable credit profile; 

 – managing credit risk related to financial assets; 

 – only investing surplus cash with major financial institutions; and 

 – comparing the maturity profile of financial liabilities with the realisation profile of financial 
assets. 

 The table below reflects an undiscounted contractual maturity analysis for non-derivative financial 
liabilities.  The company does not hold any derivative financial liabilities directly. 

 Cash flows realised from financial assets reflect management’s expectation as to the timing of 
realisation. Actual timing may therefore differ from that disclosed. The timing of cash flows 
presented in the table to settle financial liabilities reflects the earliest contractual settlement dates. 

Financial liability and financial asset maturity analysis 

 Within 1 Year 1 to 5 Years Over 5 Years Total 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Financial liabilities due for 
payment 

        

Accounts payable and other 
payables (excluding 
estimated annual leave and 
deferred income)  

433,094 370,818 - - - - 433,094 370,818 

Total expected outflows 433,094 370,818 - - - - 433,094 370,818 

Financial assets – cash 
flows realisable 

        

Cash on hand 2,747,777 1,712,762 - - - - 2,747,777 1,712,762 

Accounts receivable and 
other debtors 

602,792 549,334 - - - - 602,972 549,334 

Total anticipated inflows  3,350,569 2,262,096 - - - - 3,350,569 2,262,096 

Net (outflow)/inflow on 
financial instruments 

2,917,475 1,891,278 - - - - 2,917,475 1,891,278 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 

NOTE 15: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT  
c. Market risk 

 (i) Interest rate risk 

  Exposure to interest rate risk arises on financial assets and financial liabilities recognised at 
the end of the reporting period whereby a future change in interest rates will affect future 
cash flows or the fair value of fixed rate financial instruments. The company is also exposed 
to earnings volatility on floating rate instruments.  

  The financial instruments that expose the company to interest rate risk are limited to lease 
liabilities, listed shares, government and fixed interest securities, and cash on hand. 

  The company manages interest rate risk by ensuring that, whenever possible, payables are 
paid within any pre-agreed credit terms.   

 (ii) Other price risk 

  Other price risk relates to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from 
interest rate risk or currency risk) of securities held. 

  The company is exposed to other price risk on investments held for trading or for medium to 
longer terms.  Such risk is managed through diversification of investments across industries 
and geographical locations. 
 

 Sensitivity analysis 

 The following table illustrates sensitivities to the company’s exposures to changes in interest rates 
and equity prices. The table indicates the impact of how profit and equity values reported at the end 
of the reporting period would have been affected by changes in the relevant risk variable that 
management considers to be reasonably possible. 

 These sensitivities assume that the movement in a particular variable is independent of other 
variables 

   Surplus Equity 

   $ $ 

Year ended 30 June 2018    

+/– 2% in interest rates  +/- 54,956 +/- 54,956 

Year ended 30 June 2017    

+/– 2% in interest rates  +/- 34,255 +/- 34,255 

 No sensitivity analysis has been performed on foreign exchange risk as the company has no 
material exposures to currency risk. 

 There have been no changes in any of the assumptions used to prepare the above sensitivity 
analysis from the prior year. 

Fair Values 

Fair value estimation 

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are presented in the following table and can be 
compared to their carrying amounts as presented in the statement of financial position.   

Refer to Note 16 for detailed disclosures regarding the fair value measurement of the company’s financial 
assets and financial liabilities. 

Differences between fair values and carrying amounts of financial instruments with fixed interest rates are 
due to the change in discount rates being applied by the market since their initial recognition by the 
company.  Most of these instruments, which are carried at amortised cost (ie accounts receivables, loan 
liabilities), are to be held until maturity and therefore the fair value figures calculated bear little relevance to 
the company. 



Forrest Personnel Ltd  

ABN 16 407 737 173 

  Page 27 of 31 

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 

NOTE 15: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT  
  2018 2017 

 Note Carrying 
Amount Fair Value 

Carrying 
Amount 

Fair 

Value 

  $ $ $ $ 

Financial assets      

Cash on hand (i) 4 2,747,777 2,747,777 1,712,762 1,712,762 

Accounts receivable and other debtors (i) 5 602,972 602,972 549,334 549,334 

Total financial assets  3,350,749 3,350,749 2,262,096 2,262,096 

Financial liabilities      

Accounts payable and other payables(i) 9a 433,094 433,094 427,902 427,902 

Total financial liabilities  433,094 433,094 427,902 427,902 

 

(i) Cash on hand, accounts receivable and other debtors, and accounts payable and other payables 
are short-term instruments in nature whose carrying amount is equivalent to fair value. Accounts 
payable and other payables exclude amounts provided for annual leave, which is outside the scope 
of AASB 139. 

 
NOTE 16: FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
The company measures and recognises the following  assets at fair value on a recurring basis after initial 
recognition 

– financial assets at fair value through profit or loss;  

– available-for-sale financial assets; and 

– freehold land and buildings. 

The company does not subsequently measure any liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis, or any 
assets or liabilities at fair value on a non-recurring basis. 

a. Fair Value Hierarchy 

 

AASB 13: Fair Value Measurement requires the disclosure of fair value information by level of the 
fair value hierarchy, which categorises fair value measurements into one of three possible levels 
based on the lowest level that an input that is significant to the measurement can be categorised 
into as follows: 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

 

Measurements based on 
quoted prices (unadjusted) in 
active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities that the 
entity can access at the 
measurement date. 

Measurements based on inputs 
other than quoted prices included 
in Level 1 that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly 
or indirectly. 

Measurements based on 
unobservable inputs for the 
asset or liability. 

 

The fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market are determined 
using one or more valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent 
possible, the use of observable market data. If all significant inputs required to measure fair value 
are observable, the asset or liability is included in Level 2. If one or more significant inputs are not 
based on observable market data, the asset or liability is included in Level 3.  
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NOTE 15: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT  
  2018 2017 

 Note Carrying 
Amount Fair Value 

Carrying 
Amount 

Fair 

Value 

  $ $ $ $ 

Financial assets      

Cash on hand (i) 4 2,747,777 2,747,777 1,712,762 1,712,762 

Accounts receivable and other debtors (i) 5 602,972 602,972 549,334 549,334 

Total financial assets  3,350,749 3,350,749 2,262,096 2,262,096 

Financial liabilities      

Accounts payable and other payables(i) 9a 433,094 433,094 427,902 427,902 

Total financial liabilities  433,094 433,094 427,902 427,902 

 

(i) Cash on hand, accounts receivable and other debtors, and accounts payable and other payables 
are short-term instruments in nature whose carrying amount is equivalent to fair value. Accounts 
payable and other payables exclude amounts provided for annual leave, which is outside the scope 
of AASB 139. 

 
NOTE 16: FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
The company measures and recognises the following  assets at fair value on a recurring basis after initial 
recognition 

– financial assets at fair value through profit or loss;  

– available-for-sale financial assets; and 

– freehold land and buildings. 

The company does not subsequently measure any liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis, or any 
assets or liabilities at fair value on a non-recurring basis. 

a. Fair Value Hierarchy 

 

AASB 13: Fair Value Measurement requires the disclosure of fair value information by level of the 
fair value hierarchy, which categorises fair value measurements into one of three possible levels 
based on the lowest level that an input that is significant to the measurement can be categorised 
into as follows: 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

 

Measurements based on 
quoted prices (unadjusted) in 
active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities that the 
entity can access at the 
measurement date. 

Measurements based on inputs 
other than quoted prices included 
in Level 1 that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly 
or indirectly. 

Measurements based on 
unobservable inputs for the 
asset or liability. 

 

The fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market are determined 
using one or more valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent 
possible, the use of observable market data. If all significant inputs required to measure fair value 
are observable, the asset or liability is included in Level 2. If one or more significant inputs are not 
based on observable market data, the asset or liability is included in Level 3.  
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NOTE 16: FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
 Valuation techniques 

 

The company selects a valuation technique that is appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data is available to measure fair value. The availability of sufficient and relevant data 
primarily depends on the specific characteristics of the asset or liability being measured. The 
valuation techniques selected by the company are consistent with one or more of the following 
valuation approaches: 

 
– Market approach: valuation techniques that use prices and other relevant information 

generated by market transactions for identical or similar assets or liabilities. 

 
– Income approach: valuation techniques that convert estimated future cash flows or 

income and expenses into a single discounted present value. 

 
– Cost approach: valuation techniques that reflect the current replacement cost of an 

asset at its current service capacity. 

 

Each valuation technique requires inputs that reflect the assumptions that buyers and sellers 
would use when pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about risks. When selecting a 
valuation technique, the company gives priority to those techniques that maximise the use of 
observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. Inputs that are developed using 
market data (such as publicly available information on actual transactions) and reflect the 
assumptions that buyers and sellers would generally use when pricing the asset or liability are 
considered observable, whereas inputs for which market data is not available and therefore are 
developed using the best information available about such assumptions are considered 
unobservable. 

 
The following tables provide the fair values of the company’s assets and liabilities measured and 
recognised on a recurring basis after initial recognition and their categorisation within the fair value 
hierarchy: 

  30 June 2018 

 Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

   $ $ $ $ 

 Recurring fair value measurements      
 Non-financial assets      

 Freehold land 7 - 1,055,000 - 1,055,000 

 Freehold buildings 7 - 2,250,206 - 2,250,206 

 Total non-financial assets 
recognised at fair value  - 3,305,206 - 3,305,206 

 
  30 June 2017 

 Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

   $ $ $ $ 

 Recurring fair value measurements 
     

 Non-financial assets      

 Freehold land 7 - 1,055,000 - 1,055,000 

 Freehold buildings 7 - 2,312,062 - 2,312,062 

 Total non-financial assets 
recognised at fair value  - 3,367,062 - 3,367,062 
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NOTE 16: FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
 There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 for assets measured at fair value on a 

recurring basis during the reporting period (2017: no transfers). 
 

b. Valuation Techniques and Inputs Used to Measure Level 2 Fair Values 

 
Description 

Fair Value at 30 
June 2018 

Valuation Technique(s) Inputs Used 

  $   

 Non-financial assets    

 Freehold land(i) 1,055,000 Market approach using recent 
observable market data for 

similar properties;  

Price per square 
metre; market 
borrowing rate 

 Freehold buildings(i) 2,250,206 Market approach using recent 
observable market data for 
similar properties; income 

approach using discounted cash 
flow methodology 

Price per square 
metre; market 
borrowing rate 

  3,305,206   

 (i) The fair value of freehold land and buildings is determined at least every three years 
based on valuations by an independent valuer. At the end of each intervening period, the 
directors review the independent valuation and, when appropriate, update the fair value 
measurement to reflect current market conditions using a range of valuation techniques, 
including recent observable market data and discounted cash flow methodologies.  

 There were no changes during the period in the valuation techniques used by the company to 
determine Level 2 fair values.  

 
NOTE 17: CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
Management controls the capital of the entity to ensure that adequate cash flows are generated to fund its 
mentoring programs and that returns from investments are maximised within tolerable risk parameters.  
The finance committee ensures that the overall risk management strategy is in line with this objective. 

The finance committee operates under policies approved by the Board of Directors. Risk management 
policies are approved and reviewed by the Board on a regular basis. These include credit risk policies and 
future cash flow requirements. 

The entity’s capital consists of financial liabilities, supported by financial assets. 

Management effectively manages the entity’s capital by assessing the entity’s financial risks and 
responding to changes in these risks and in the market. These responses may include the consideration of 
debt levels. 

There have been no changes to the strategy adopted by management to control the capital of the entity 
since the previous year.  
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NOTE 16: FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
 There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 for assets measured at fair value on a 

recurring basis during the reporting period (2017: no transfers). 
 

b. Valuation Techniques and Inputs Used to Measure Level 2 Fair Values 

 
Description 

Fair Value at 30 
June 2018 

Valuation Technique(s) Inputs Used 

  $   

 Non-financial assets    

 Freehold land(i) 1,055,000 Market approach using recent 
observable market data for 

similar properties;  

Price per square 
metre; market 
borrowing rate 

 Freehold buildings(i) 2,250,206 Market approach using recent 
observable market data for 
similar properties; income 

approach using discounted cash 
flow methodology 

Price per square 
metre; market 
borrowing rate 

  3,305,206   

 (i) The fair value of freehold land and buildings is determined at least every three years 
based on valuations by an independent valuer. At the end of each intervening period, the 
directors review the independent valuation and, when appropriate, update the fair value 
measurement to reflect current market conditions using a range of valuation techniques, 
including recent observable market data and discounted cash flow methodologies.  

 There were no changes during the period in the valuation techniques used by the company to 
determine Level 2 fair values.  

 
NOTE 17: CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
Management controls the capital of the entity to ensure that adequate cash flows are generated to fund its 
mentoring programs and that returns from investments are maximised within tolerable risk parameters.  
The finance committee ensures that the overall risk management strategy is in line with this objective. 

The finance committee operates under policies approved by the Board of Directors. Risk management 
policies are approved and reviewed by the Board on a regular basis. These include credit risk policies and 
future cash flow requirements. 

The entity’s capital consists of financial liabilities, supported by financial assets. 

Management effectively manages the entity’s capital by assessing the entity’s financial risks and 
responding to changes in these risks and in the market. These responses may include the consideration of 
debt levels. 

There have been no changes to the strategy adopted by management to control the capital of the entity 
since the previous year.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 

NOTE 18: RESERVES 
a. Revaluation Surplus 

 The revaluation surplus records the revaluations of land and buildings.   

b. Analysis of Each Class of Reserve 

 Note 2018 2017 

  $ $ 

Revaluation surplus   427,440 427,440 

 
 
NOTE 19: ENTITY DETAILS 
The registered office of the entity is: 

 Forrest Personnel Ltd  

 14 Strickland Street  

 BUNBURY  WA  6230 

The principal place of business is: 

 14 Strickland Street  

 BUNBURY  WA  6230 

  

 
NOTE 20: MEMBERS’ GUARANTEE 
The company is incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001 and is a company limited by guarantee. If 
the company is wound up, the constitution states that each member is required to contribute a maximum of 
$1 each towards meeting any outstanding obligations of the entity. At 30 June 2018, the number of 
members was 94. 
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION 

In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Forrest Personnel Ltd, the directors declare that: 

1. The financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 1 to 31, are in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and: 

 a. comply with Australian Accounting Standards; and 

 b. give a true and fair view of the financial position of the company as at 30 June 2018 and of 
its performance for the year ended on that date. 

2. In the directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to 
pay its debts as and when they become due and payable. 

 

Iain Massey (Chair) 

Dated this  day of   2018 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF FORREST PERSONNEL LTD  

 
Opinion 
We have audited the financial report of Forrest Personnel Ltd which comprises the statement of financial position as at 
30 June 2018, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and 
the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies, and the declaration by those charged with governance. 
  
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report has been prepared in accordance with Division 60 of the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commissions Act 2012, including: 
 

i) giving a true and fair view, in all material aspects, of the financial position of Forrest Personnel Ltd as at 30 
June 2018, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended; and 

 
ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-

profits Commission Regulations 2013. 
 
Basis for Opinion  
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report.  We are 
independent of Forrest Personnel Ltd in accordance with the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 
2012 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia.  We have also 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.   
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.   
 
Emphasis of Matter 
We draw attention to Note 1(q) to the financial statements which outlines the corporation’s economic dependency, 
whereby to continue as a going concern the corporation is dependent upon continued receipt of funding from the 
Department of Social Services. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 
 
Other Information  
Those charged with governance are responsible for the other information.  The other information comprises the 
information included in Forrest Personnel Ltd’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2018, but does not include the 
financial report and our auditor’s report thereon.  
 
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.   
 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact.  We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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Responsibilities of the Director’s for the Financial Report  
The directors of the corporation are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that 
gives a true and fair view and have determined that the basis of preparation described in Note 1 is appropriate to meet 
the requirements of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and for such internal control as the 
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the financial report, management are responsible for assessing Forrest Personnel Ltd’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intend to liquidate Forrest Personnel Ltd or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Forrest Personnel Ltd’s financial reporting process.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report  
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.  Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Australian 
Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial report.    
 
As part of an audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  
 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our my opinion.  The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made.   

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the registered entity’s ability to continue as a going concern.  If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.  Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.  However, future events or conditions may cause 
the registered entity to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.  

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit.  
  
AMD Chartered Accountants 
 
 
 
 
TIM PARTRIDGE   
Director                                Dated this 15th day of October 2018 
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Iain Massey
Chairman

Welcome from the Chairman

It’s my pleasure to introduce our second annual 
Quality of Care report, as well as a more 
conventional report covering our financials.
The Quality of Care report is an initiative of our new CEO, Mark Sullivan, 
and it very appropriately focusses on our people, our work and our results.  
This year’s report shows an organisation working very professionally to 
realise our vision: “No Ability Wasted”.

As a Board, our aim for Forrest Personnel is twofold: to keep improving 
the services we offer to our client community; and to create a vibrant, 
innovative and highly skilled organisation able to extend those services 
even further in years to come. 

We must be much more than an outsourced service delivery vehicle 
for government, important as that role is.  We must become a social 
enterprise that leads with new thinking and new initiatives, that steps up 
as an equal partner with the government funding agencies, and that  
offers our client community advocacy and support as well as  
funder-defined services.

At the same time, we must be good stewards of the financial strength we 
inherited from past Boards.  We must ensure that Forrest Personnel has 
the resilience to ride out the shocks, undertake new projects, and keep 
serving our mission.  In this context, “not-for-profit” is a misnomer.  If we 
don’t consistently generate an operating surplus (profit), we cannot meet 
the profound changes coming to our sector, and our fate will be to slide 
into irrelevance.

Our annual reports show us that the signs are generally good, but there’s 
much work still to do.  Apart from continuing to strengthen our financial 
governance, we’ll need to address the tendency of government to assume 
that front-line service delivery is all that needs to be paid for.

You will read elsewhere in this report that a long-term and consistent 
under-provisioning of the DES program in Western Australia has harmed 
our financial performance.  Much more importantly, it has disadvantaged 
our client community compared to the rest of the country.

As I write, we are in dialogue with government about properly 
understanding and correcting this failure not of policy, but of 
implementation.  We have also reduced the impact of the problem by 
directly advertising our services on TV.  Our own financial viability has 
been greatly helped by diligent cost management on the part of our 
executive team.

Thanks to these efforts, in the face of strong headwinds, I’m pleased to 
highlight the following financial results:

Revenue increased by 21% to $7.9M.

Our operating result before abnormals was a surplus of $116K  
(last year’s was $75K).

From our financial reserves, we invested over $600K in capital 
acquisitions. These included: purchase of a building in Rockingham; 
complete replacement of our computer fleet; and staff safety initiatives 
such as duress alarms in every site.

Iain Massey – 2015-Present – Chairman

Iain is a graduate member of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors, and an Associate Fellow of the Australian Institute 
of Management. He holds graduate qualifications in business 
management and computer science. Iain is a resident of Balingup in 
the South-West, and assists clients in the region and elsewhere in 
WA. He brings to Forrest special expertise in governance, strategy, 
board processes, and technology.

Karl Depiazzi – 2016-Present – Deputy Chairman

Karl has more than 17 years of executive management experience, 
both in the not for profit and large corporate environments, and is 
a Certified Practicing Accountant. He is an experienced company 
director and consultant to a range of businesses in the engineering 
and resources industries. He has deep business, finance, risk and 
governance experience gained in Australia and overseas, working 
with top tier service and industrial clients.

Marion Behiels – 2015-Present – Director

Marion holds a Bachelor of Education, a Diploma of Teaching, and 
is a qualified Workplace Trainer & Assessor. Marion is a passionate 
educator of more than 30 years and currently works as the Careers 
and VET Coordinator at MacKillop Catholic College in Busselton. 
Marion has also had a diverse range of teaching roles, including 
Special Needs and teaching English as a second language. These 
experiences have equipped Marion with a range of skills across broad 
sectors of the community. 
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Jenny Green – 2015-Present – Director

Jenny has been a Registered Psychologist since 1989. Jenny has 
extensive experience working in the areas of Vocational Rehabilitation 
and Return to Work Injury Management in both government and 
private sectors. She has also provided critical incident counselling 
and employee assistance counselling to various companies in South 
West. 

Lyn Harding – 2017-Present – Director

Lyn’s passion is for culture and people, creating a collective uplift 
in performance. She is a Fellow of the Australian Institute of 
Management, with experience in both commercial and not-for-profit 
organisations. Lyn has a strong fiscal focus, a flair for developing 
strategic visions, and a firm handle on risk management. Lyn lives in 
Fremantle and frequently travels to the South West,  
where she aims to make her home one day.

Geoff Klem – 2016-Present – Director

Geoff has a professional background in strategic and statutory 
planning, policy development and project management. He is a 
Fellow of the Planning Institute of Australia and hold degrees in 
Urban and Regional Studies, Town Planning and a Diploma in Project 
Management. He is a former Commissioner of the State Planning 
Commission and Member of the Disability Services Commission 
Board.

David Timmel – 2016-Present – Director

David is a senior executive with over 30 years’ experience in the 
Financial Services, Agribusiness, Recruitment and Property 
Management sectors. David is highly experienced in successfully 
running multi-site businesses for ASX and unlisted public 
companies throughout Australia. David is a graduate of the Advanced 
Management Program at Harvard University and holds post- and 
undergraduate degrees from Curtin University.
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Our Executive Members

Anna Bagshaw – Chief Executive Officer

Anna holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University 
of Western Australia and has managed businesses in Australia 
and Argentina. Anna has been working in Disability Employment 
Services since 2011 and believes there is a job for everyone and 
that diversity in people makes the world interesting. Anna has many 
years’ experience in leadership, management and governance. Her 
previous roles have included planning, operations, human resources, 
change management, logistics and leadership. Today Anna focuses 
her experience and knowledge in building Forrest Personnel and 
providing quality outcomes for people living with disability.

Melissa Reid – General Manager Corporate Services 

Melissa holds a Bachelor of Commerce Degree – double major in 
Accounting and Finance and is a chartered accountant. Melissa has 
a background in financial accounting and business services within 
the construction and engineering industry. Melissa was the Company 
Accountant for Forrest before her promotion to General Manager, 
and brings to this role her skills in financial reporting, forecasting, 
analysis and cash flow management.

Jacalyn Graham – General Manager Clinical Governance 

Jacalyn has been working in Disability Employment since 2006. With 
degrees in Social Work and Psychology, Jacalyn has always been 
committed to providing high quality service delivery. Jacalyn brings 
practical knowledge, experience and evidence-based approaches to 
Disability Employment Services. Jacalyn is also an accredited Mental 
Health First Aid trainer, and has been delivering this course to 
service delivery staff from across Forrest Personnel.

Brett Coate – General Manager Services 

Brett has completed a Bachelor of Business Degree, specialising in 
Finance, Banking and Economics. Spanning a professional career of 25 
years, Brett has extensive experience working in both the private and 
public sector in Executive level leadership positions. He is passionate 
about excellence in customer service delivery and considers positive 
organisational culture to be a critical element in its success.  Brett is 
results focused and committed to improving employment outcomes for 
those living with health condition, disability or injury.42



Our Locations

Albany

Bridgetown

Bunbury

Busselton

Collie

Esperance

Geraldton

Gingin

Kalgoorlie

Kwinana

Manjimup

Margaret River

Narrogin

Northam

Rockingham

Success

West Leederville

We have locations
across Western Australia:

Albany

Esperance

Manjimup

Margaret
River 

Bridgetown

CollieBunbury

Busselton

Narrogin

Kalgoorlie

Geraldton

West LeedervilleSuccess
Rockingham Kwinana

224 548
ABILITY1800

www.fpi.org.au

info@fpi.org.au
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Northam

Gingin



No Ability Wasted.

EMPLOYABILITY
CAPABILITY
AVAILABILITY
ADAPTABILITY
TRAINABILITY
DEPENDABILITY
SUITABILITY

1800 ABILITY  |  fpi.org.au Ability fi rst for 30 years

224 548
ABILITY1800

www.fpi.org.au

Head Office
14 Strickland Street
South Bunbury WA 6230

info@fpi.org.au


